
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Tuesday, 28 February 2017 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, M D Booth, R Clark, G K Dark, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, C N Johnson, J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), M J Pullen, 
J L Reynolds, J Tyrrell, A R Woolf (Chairman) and P A Williams

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   20 February 2017



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following 
meetings:

a)  Policy Development Panel - 20 December 2016 (copy enclosed) (Pages 
1 - 6)

b)  Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel - 25 October 2016 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
7 - 10)

c)  Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel - 22 November 2016 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
11 - 14)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet to 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
15 - 18)

8. Policy Register - Update Schedule for Policies - To provide an update 
about review schedules of Council policies (Report of the Executive 
Director – Strategy and Governance enclosed)

(Pages 
19 - 26)

9. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes - To receive an update on the 
current situation (report of the Executive Director Place enclosed)

(Pages 
27 - 34)

10. Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group - To 
present the Task Group’s Final Reports for consideration (the following 
Task Group reports are enclosed):

a) Committee Agendas;
b) External Printing;
c) Officer Agenda Printing.

(Pages 
35 - 86)

11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme – To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed)

(Pages 
87 - 94)



12. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  

13. Exclusion of the Press and Public - To consider resolving that, under 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

14. Exempt minutes of the joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 25 October 2016 - To 
receive the exempt minutes of the joint meeting of the Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 25 October 
2016 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
95 - 
100)



This page is intentionally left blank



- 14 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 20 December 2016 at 
6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)
J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
M D Booth
R Clark
G K Dark

H Drury
A Harrison
C N Johnson
J L King

M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  Executive Manager - People and Public Protection, HR Manager and 
Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill and 
L J Eldridge 

Action By
22. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Policy Development Panel held 
on 1 November 2016 were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record

AGREED:

That the minutes of the Policy Development Panel meeting held 
on 1 November 2016 be signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record. 

23. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were none. 

24. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were none. 

25. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were none. 

26. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 15 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
December 2016

27. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan, published on 
29 November 2016.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

28. HR POLICY HANDBOOK 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
People and Public Protection which presented the newly drafted 
Human Resources (HR) Policy Handbook.  It compiled the key 
HR policies required as best practice.  It’s aim was to mitigate 
risk, particularly in a shared management arrangement and 
application of policy across two Councils, and to reduce review 
periods and updates following changes to employment legislation.

In order to make some simple alignments across both Councils 
and reduce risk within the management of the shared 
management arrangement, approval was sought on the following 
areas:

 Should any amendment to policy be required as a result of 
legislative or constitutional change, of which the organisation 
had no jurisdiction, that this be delegated to the Head of Paid 
Service in order to ensure a prompt response to such changes 
and mitigate risk of application of said policy in line with 
employment law;

 Permission to increase relocation allowance to the HMRC 
maximum allowance of £8,000; to provide further flexibility to 
recruitment processes where required along with the caveat 
that the full allowance may only be granted by the approval of 
a Chief Officer;

 Permission to specify up to 5 days leave for Fertility 
Treatment: the ‘National’ Conditions of Service state a 
‘reasonable amount of time off’.

The Panel considered the information within the report, and the 
proposals, and agreed that it was useful to have a document 
which brought together all of the key HR policies.

AGREED:

That the report be noted and presented to the Council for formal 
agreement. 

Page 2



- 16 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
December 2016

29. POLICY REGISTER UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance which provided the Panel with an 
update on the current position of the Policy Register.

The last update had been presented to the Panel in April 2016, 
and this had highlighted that there was a significant amount of 
work required to update a number of the Council’s policies, and a 
further update had therefore been requested in Quarter 3 2016/17 
showing progress to date.

A copy of the current Policy Register was attached to the report.  
There were currently 37 policies on the register, the current 
position of the register was rated as ‘Fair’, with the majority of 
policies being reviewed and only one policy overdue.  Of the 20 
policies being reviewed and showing at amber, a number were 
HR policies which had been discussed at the previous agenda 
item.  Many of the other policies being reviewed were finance 
policies which were being reviewed as part of the budget, and 
were due for adoption in February 2017 as part of the budget 
approval process.

The Panel considered the information and the following issues 
were raised:

 Were there policies relating to littering and fly tipping?
o These were no longer specific policies and were 

now included within a broader policy. Members 
would be advised under which policy littering and fly 
tipping were included.

 The Panel commented that although the progress of policy 
reviews was colour coded, completion dates for reviews 
should be provided so that progress could be seen more 
easily.  Members requested that information be provided to the 
next meeting detailing completion dates for each of the 
reviews. The Panel could then consider whether colour coding 
was the best way to reflect progress. It was also requested 
that the Policy register would be reviewed annually, however 
in the short term, an update report on policy reviews be 
considered quarterly by the Panel.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted;
GP, TR, 
CM 

Page 3



- 17 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
December 2016

b) That members be advised under which policy littering and fly 
tipping was situated;

c) That a report be presented to the next meeting detailing 
completion dates for all current policy reviews, in order that the 
Panel could consider whether colour coding was the most 
effective way of representing progress; and

d) That a report on the Policy Register, providing details of 
progress with policy reviews, be presented quarterly to the 
Policy Development Panel and once completed and up to date 
to be presented annually. 

GP, TR, 
CM 

GP, TR, 
CM 

30. APPRENTICESHIP UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director, 
Strategy and Governance, which updated the Panel on the 
current position regarding development of the Council’s 
Apprenticeship Scheme.

The Council did not currently employ any apprentices directly 
however, 14 apprentices were employed through Compass Point 
Business Services.  This scheme had been very successful, with 
a number of apprentices retained and employed by Compass 
Point Business Services, and one now employed by South 
Holland District Council.

The South Holland apprenticeship scheme was being created as 
a joint piece or work with Breckland Council, and this would be 
completed to draft stage in April 2017. It would take into account 
the good practices of the Compass Point Business Services’ 
scheme, and would be set up to be implemented following exact 
requirements of the apprenticeship levy being published by the 
Government.

The Panel considered the report and the following points were 
raised:

 Why was South Holland District Council not employing 
apprentices, when the success of the Compass Point 
Business Services scheme was apparent?

o Apprenticeship boards did not support some 
professional bodies appropriate to certain roles 
within the Council, for example within Environmental 
Health and Planning. However, the Authority should 
look at apprenticeships and career progression of 
some of its officers, and this would begin to be seen 
through service reviews.

Page 4



- 18 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
December 2016

 Although apprenticeship schemes may not cover all roles 
within the Council, it could be used to employ individuals in 
more practical roles, particularly to train plumbers, bricklayers 
etc within the CSU.

o Apprenticeships were being considered and built 
into all service reviews.

 Members appreciated the situation regarding the funding of 
apprenticeships, and the problem with certain professional 
roles.  

o The Panel was advised that the Authority had tried 
to work alongside Boston College with regard to 
apprenticeships however, only certain standard 
courses could be offered.

 Funding was not being provided to colleges to provide 
apprenticeships other than a core of practical/manual skills or 
more general office-based skills.  Specific apprenticeships for 
areas that were public sector specific were required.  The 
Local Government Association should be approached to 
consider this.

 The report stated that the Authority would be required to 
employ six apprentices.  What areas would they be employed 
in?

o The apprentices would largely be located within the 
Place-based team, and would be identified through 
service reviews.  The Authority was required to take 
on six apprentices or it would incur a penalty.

 The Panel requested that, as the Apprenticeship Policy was 
developed, that there be member involvement.

o Members were advised that guidance was still being 
prepared, and that further detail would be available 
in April/May 2017.  Once further information on the 
apprenticeship levy was published by the 
Government (anticipated by May 2017), further 
information on the Authority’s Apprenticeship Policy 
would be provided to the Panel.

AGREED:

a) That the update report be noted: and

b) That more detailed information on the Authority’s 
Apprenticeship Policy be provided to the Panel at its meeting 
in May, to included information on the apprenticeship levy 
published by the Government 

PA, CM 

Page 5



- 19 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
December 2016

31. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel.  The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

The Panel received an update on the progress of the work of the 
Paper and Postage costs throughout the Authority Task Group, 
and were advised that its Final Report would be presented to the 
Panel in February 2017.

The Panel was advised that, following its review of implemented 
planning decisions, the Performance Monitoring Panel had 
suggested that two of its members, Councillors B Alcock and A M 
Newton,  work with the Public Open Spaces Task Group to 
address some of the recommendations arising from the review.  
The Task Group had been set up by the Policy Development 
Panel and would begin its work following completion of the Paper 
and Postage Task Group.  The Policy Development Panel was in 
agreement that Councillors B Alcock and A M Newton should join 
the Task Group.

AGREED:

a) That both sections of the Panel’s Work Programme, as set out 
in the report of the Executive Manager Governance, be noted; 

b) That the Paper and Postage costs throughout the Authority 
Task Group present its Final Report to the Panel in February 
2017; and

c) That members of the Performance Monitoring Panel, 
Councillors B Alcock and A M Newton join the Public Open 
Spaces Task Group, set up by the Policy Development Panel. 

CM, AP 

(The meeting ended at 7.35 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 6



- 5 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 25 October 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock
G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth
T A Carter

G K Dark
L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Grocock
C N Johnson
A M Newton

M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
J Tyrrell
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C J T H Brewis, 
R Clark, A Harrison, J L King, J D McLean and A C Tennant 

In Attendance:  The Executive Manager - Public Protection, the Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager and the Democratic Services Officer

Action By

9. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the Joint 
meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.  

AGREED:

That Councillor B Alcock act as Chairman for the duration of the 
joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.    

10. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

11. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

AGREED:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

12. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME HIGHLIGHT REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director, 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 6 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 October 2016

Strategy and Governance, which provided the Joint Panel with an 
update on progress to date of ‘Moving Forward’, the Council’s 
transformation programme.

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager provided 
information on the various projects, and how they were 
progressing as part of the programme.

AGREED:

a) That the information provided within the report be noted;

b) That with regard to ICT Options, thorough forward planning be 
undertaken to ensure that there was sufficient provision for 
new partners coming on board later in the process;

c) That it was vital that the process kept on track;

d) That consideration be given to the promotion at Springfields 
Outlet Centre of Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens and 
the South Holland Centre in Spalding; and 

e) That when leisure service provision was considered, the Joint 
Scrutiny Panel be given an opportunity as soon as possible to 
consider proposals and provide input. 

GP 

13. 'MOVING FORWARD' TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME   
BENEFITS REALISATION MODEL 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director, 
Strategy and Governance, which outlined the model of benefits 
realisation that the ‘Moving Forward’ Transformation Programme 
was using to measure its success.

The report stated that in order for Moving Forward to be 
successful, it should be ensured that all benefits to the Authority 
were identified and captured effectively.  This would be done 
through the development of Benefits Cards for every project that 
was part of the programme.  This would enable the Programme 
Officer to monitor and track when anticipated benefits were 
realised/delivered.  To enable this to happen, the following had to 
be undertaken:

 Identify both cash and non-cashable benefits at the point of 
project inception;

 Validate and continuously review expected benefits throughout 
the project;

Page 8



- 7 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 October 2016

 Enable benefits to be realised by investing in new ways of 
working

The model showed that while ‘Moving Forward’ was looking to 
deliver savings through cost avoidance, this was not the only type 
of benefit the programme would deliver.  To ensure that the 
programme was successful, it would need to deliver customer 
satisfaction , and make quality improvements to services. 

Members considered and discussed the information detailed 
within the report.

AGREED:

a) <2>That the information provided within the report be noted;

b) That the issues raised by the Panel be taken into account;

c) That Joint Panel members be provided with information on 
what could be measured in relation to customer satisfaction; 
and

d) That a measure of savings realised be presented to members 
for scrutiny at relevant intervals. 

GP 

14. TRANSFORMATION - DIGITAL PAYMENT PHASE 2 
(DISTRICT PROVISION) 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
for People and Public Protection which detailed Digital Payment 
Phase 2 (District Provision), part of the Authority’s Transformation 
programme.

The proposals within the report detailed how the Authority would 
expand the ability to make payments for Council services across 
the district, by use of Pay Point, Post Office and digital solutions.  
This proposal would enable residents and businesses greater 
flexibility in the way that they payed, and aligned with the 
Corporate Priority of providing the right service at the right time 
and in the right way.

Members commented that there were some areas of the District 
that were not covered by these additional payment solutions 
however it was acknowledged that the locations secured to date 
still provided thirty more locations for payment than were currently 
available.  Ward members were encouraged to identify payment 
locations within their wards to broaden the offer available to the 

Page 9



- 8 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 October 2016

public.

The Executive Manager People and Public Protection advised 
that the second recommendation of the recommendations to be 
made to Cabinet was to be changed to read as follows:

 That the Priory Road cash desk remain open to facilitate the 
Transformation programme, until the Authority was required to 
accommodate its third party partners or organisations, or by 
Autumn 2017

Information provided within the report was considered and the 
following issues were raised:

 Members commented that there were some areas of the 
District that were not covered by these additional payment 
solutions however it was acknowledged that the locations 
secured to date still provided thirty more locations for payment 
than were currently available.  Officers/members should be 
proactive in finding sites to ensure that there was a more even 
spread of service across the district.  

 Communication was vital to ensure that customers were 
aware of the new options for payment that would be available 
to them.

AGREED:

a) That the information provided within the report be noted; and

b) That the Cabinet be advised of the following issues raised by 
the Joint Panel:

i. That some areas of the District were not covered by the 
additional payment solutions, and that officers/members 
should be proactive in finding sites to ensure that there 
was a more even spread of service across the district; 
and

ii. That communication to customers was vital to ensure 
they were aware of the new options for payment that 
would be available to them. 

(The meeting ended at 8.08 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 10



- 9 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory 
Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 22 November 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock
D Ashby
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
H Drury

L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Grocock
A Harrison
J D McLean

A M Newton
M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G R Aley, 
J R Astill, M D Booth, R Clark, G K Dark, C N Johnson, J L King, A C Tennant and 
J Tyrrell 

In Attendance:  The Interim Executive Director Commercialisation and the Democratic 
Services Officer.

Action By
15. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the Joint 
meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.  

AGREED:

That Councillor A Woolf act as Chairman for the duration of the 
joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.    

16. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

17. BUDGET TIMETABLE 

The Interim Executive Director Commercialisation provided the 
Joint Panel with an update on the revised timetable for approval 
of the budget for the forthcoming year.  The main points were:

 A draft budget had been produced by services
 The Autumn Statement was due on 23 November 2016
 The draft settlement was expected in the first half of 

December
 SHDC has signed up to a four year settlement
 There was no feedback yet from consultation on the New 

Homes Bonus

Page 11

Agenda Item 2.c)



- 10 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 November 2016

 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme was currently being 
reviewed

The committee timetable for approval of the budget was as 
follows:

 Executive Management Team and Strategy Board – 
December 2016

 Public consultation (including consultation with the Joint 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 
– January 2017

 Cabinet and Council – February 2017
 Council Tax setting – 22 February 2017

Members considered the information and the following issues 
were raised:

 Housing Benefit LA Error Rate – Members were aware that a 
third party had been commissioned to help clear the backlog 
of outstanding work relating to the processing of claims.  This 
was a costly exercise.

o Officers were pushing hard to ensure that the situation 
was rectified, and were successfully getting the 
workload back under control.  A lot of pressure was 
being put on CPBS to resolve the situation, and there 
was a strong will to get it right.

 The financial problems for the Authority caused by the LA 
error rate were not inconsequential.  

 Percentages were often looked at as a means of 
measurement however, it had to be remembered that these 
issues related to individuals, and it was vital for the Authority 
and its reputation to ensure that the current problems were 
resolved and future processing of claims was satisfactory.

o Officers were looking at the LA error rate and this was 
now well within the threshold.  Also, the right kind of 
service needed to be provided – it was necessary to 
cure the cause and not just the symptoms.

AGREED:

That the update providing details of the revised budget timetable 
to noted.     

18. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME - 2017/18 

Consideration was given to the report of the Interim Executive 
Director Commercialisation which recommended that changes to 

Page 12



- 11 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 November 2016

the Local Council Tax support scheme were reviewed and 
comments as appropriate be included in the report to Cabinet 
following consultation.

Appendix A set out the detail of the proposed changes together 
with some examples of the impact for claimants.  In summary, the 
amendments which would be consulted on were:

 Abolish second adult rebate, with a three year transitional 
implementation

 Introduce a minimum weekly amount (£5) of Council Tax 
Support

 Decrease the non-dependant deduction rate
 Restrict Council Tax to band D for support purposes
 Lower the maximum capital limit to £8,000 (from £16,000)
 Lower the capital threshold to £3,000 (from £6,000)
 Limit the back dating of benefit to 1 month (from 3 months)
 Remove the family premium for new applications of Council 

Tax Support
 Reduce the maximum level of discount from 75% to 70%

Details of the potential number of claimants that could be affected 
by each proposed change were detailed within Appendix A to the 
report.  

Members were advised that the consultation period was still open, 
and that it would end on 14 December 2016.  All councillors could 
submit comments outside of the scrutiny process.

Members considered the report and the following points were 
made:

 If changes were agreed, how would publicity around the 
changes be handled?

o Claimants that the Authority were aware of that 
would be affected would be written to, and the 
changes would also be publicised.

 Those in higher banded properties could be asset rich but 
cash poor, and could also be affected.

o The Authority needed to take a position on where to 
draw a line.  This view could be considered as part 
of the consultation.

 Some people could be in more than one of the proposed 
categories for change, and could therefore be hit quite hard.  
This may only be a small number but for those that it could 

Page 13



- 12 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 November 2016

affect, they needed to be advised how they could be helped.

 With regard to non-payment, the Authority needed to mitigate 
for both parties – the Council who were owed money, and 
Council Tax payers that owed money.

o The Authority did try to assist with those that could 
not pay, whilst pursuing those that would not pay.

 There was a cost to the  consultation exercise – did it have to 
be undertaken and was it worth it?

o All authorities were required to review their schemes 
annually.

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Interim Executive Director 
Commercialisation be noted; and

b) That the comments of the Joint Panel be considered as part of 
the consultation process. 

SH, SJ 

19. UPDATE ON FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The Interim Executive Director Commercialisation advised that 
work on financial reporting was being undertaken, and that it was 
an ongoing, evolving process.  The Interim Chief Accountant had 
left the Authority and a successor was being sought. 

20. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were none. 

(The meeting ended at 7.30 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 14



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 20 February 2017

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Lincolnshire 
Wellbeing 
Service

Delivery of the Wellbeing Service Meetings and Discussions Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health not 
before 21st Mar 2017

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  1 Feb 
2017 and 20 Mar 2017

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot

To update Councillors on the Garden 
Waste Pilot, and set out options for the 
future. 

Portfolio Holder for Place 
and Executive Director 
Place

Meetings and 
correspondence

Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot

Cabinet 28 Mar 2017

P
age 16



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health

Housing Landlord 
Manager 9 Feb 2017

Between  1 Apr 2017 and 
30 Apr 2017

*Cabinet Membership
The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor S Slade (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

P
age 17



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Democratic Services Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 18

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director – Strategy and Governance 

To: Policy Development Panel – 28 February 2017

Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Policy Register – Update Schedule for Policies

Purpose: To provide an update about review schedules of Council policies.

Recommendation: 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.0.1 The Policy Register was presented to the Policy Development Panel in December.  

1.0.2 The register highlighted policies which were overdue; those that are being reviewed 
currently and those which are approved.

1.0.3 An action was taken away from PDP for the inclusion of forward plan of policy 
updates with a view to bringing all of the policies into an approved state.

1.1 Summary of South Holland District Council Policies

1.1.1 Currently 26 of the 36 policies within the Policy Register are approved and within 
their operating periods.  All of these policies have review dates profiled in order to 
ensure that the policies remain in an authorised state.

1.1.2 Whilst financial policies and associated documentation are held within the policy 
register, and are presented within the appendix of this report, the scrutiny over 
timelines and adherence is within the remit of the Governance and Audit committee.

1.1.3 The Safeguarding Policy is a new policy which is due to be heard by Full Council for 
approval in June 2017.

1.1.4 The Data Retention Policy is not currently being updated as there are core 
interdependencies with the digitisation and electronic working elements of the Moving 
Forward programme.  The policy is being drawn up in line with the Council’s 
ambitions of utilising new technologies and working methods. This work is being 
prioritised by a newly form internal Information Governance Board and a draft will be 
presented to the Committee in 25 July 2017.

1.1.5 There are currently ten policies which are showing as overdue.  All of these policies 
have review dates profiled in order to ensure that these policies are bought up to 
date as quickly as possible.

1.1.6 Using the proposed timetable of policy review, all policies should be within their 
operational timescale by September 2017.

Page 19

Agenda Item 8.



1.1.7 Policy health-checks and development will become standing items within the 
Corporate Improvement and Performance workshops that are going to happen on a 6 
weekly basis.  This will ensure that relevant parties are sighted on policy reviews to 
ensure that future dates are not breached. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Report for consideration, in order to fulfil the Policy Development Panel’s remit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s policy development and review cycle is properly scrutinised.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 
implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The report is made within the terms of reference of the Policy Development Panel.  
Within the policy register, there are entries for both Constitutional policies and also 
policies based on statute.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The policy register includes elements around the refresh cycle of the Corporate 
Plan and other corporate priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 The policy register includes policy entries around anti-social behaviour, hate crime 
and safeguarding.

5.6 Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1 The policy register includes policy entries around equalities.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 The policy register contains multiple entries relating to financial policies.

Page 20



5.8 Health and Wellbeing

5.8.1 The policy register contains policies relating to health and safety issues.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 Policies are required to direct how the Council deals with certain situations.  Having 
up to date policies is a robust way of setting a framework to protect the reputation of 
the Council.

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 Policy is often driven by Risk Management and therefore there is a lot of 
interdependency with the assessment of risk.  Policies are part of the management 
and mitigation of risk.

5.11      Safeguarding

5.11.1 The policy register contains a policy relating to safeguarding.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 The policy register contains policies relating to Human Resources.

5.13   Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales

5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

6.0    WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1     No Wards or Communities are affected 

7.0    ACRONYMS 

7.1    EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- None

Page 21

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 
Manager

Telephone Number: 01362 656866

Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting

Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 
Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Policy Register – correct as of February 15th 2017

Page 22

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

APPENDIX A

SHDC Policy Register 
Generated on: 15 February 2017

Policy Title Approved 
Date

Policy Review 
Cycle 

Policy Risk 
Level 

Policy Type Final Panel for 
Approval

Policy Status Date to Final 
Panel for 
Approval

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 01-Jan-2005 3 years Low Statutory Cabinet Overdue July 2017

Anti-Social Behaviour Policy 18-Dec-2013 3 years High Statutory Full Council Being Reviewed September 
2017

Safeguarding Policy  3 years High Statutory Full Council New June 2017

Hate Crime Policy 01-Mar-2008 3 years High Non Statutory Cabinet Being Reviewed September 
2017

AHM Collections Development Policy 01-Feb-2016 2 years Medium Non Statutory Cabinet Pending 
Approval

Feb 2018

AHM Collections Care and Conservation 
Policy

01-Feb-2016 2 years Medium Non Statutory Cabinet Pending 
Approval

Feb 2018

Equalities Policy 31-Jan-2014 3 years Low Non Statutory Full Council Overdue May 2017

Corporate Plan 11-May-2016 1 year High Constitutional Full Council Being Reviewed May 2017

Constitution 20-Jan-2016 1 year High Statutory Full Council Approved March 2017

Data Protection Policy 01-Jun-2014 3 years High Statutory Cabinet Approved June 2017

Freedom of Information (FoI) Policy 01-Jun-2014 3 years High Statutory Cabinet Approved June 2017

Data Retention Policy 01-Jan-2005 3 years High Non Statutory EMT Overdue September 
2017

Capital Strategy 24-Feb-2016 1 year Medium Constitutional Full Council Being Reviewed Feb 2017

P
age 23



2

Policy Title Approved 
Date

Policy Review 
Cycle 

Policy Risk 
Level 

Policy Type Final Panel for 
Approval

Policy Status Date to Final 
Panel for 
Approval

Corporate Charging Policy - Accounting 
Services

24-Feb-2016 1 year Medium Constitutional Full Council Being Reviewed Feb 2017

Corporate Debt Policy - Accounting Services 08-Apr-2014 3 years Low Non Statutory Chief Accountant Approved May 2017

Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy 24-Feb-2009 1 year Low Non Statutory Full Council Overdue August 2017

Medium Term Financial Strategy 24-Feb-2016 1 year Medium Constitutional Full Council Being Reviewed Feb 2017

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 24-Feb-2016 1 year Medium Constitutional Full Council Being Reviewed Feb 2017

South Holland Common Housing Allocations 
Policy

01-Jun-2013 3 years High Statutory Full Council Being Reviewed April 2017

Capability Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Non Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Disciplinary Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years High Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Grievance Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Bullying and Harassment 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Learning & Development Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years Low Non Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Managing Attendance Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Non Statutory Full Council Approved January 2020

Parental Rights 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Recruitment and Selection Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years Medium Non Statutory Cabinet Approved January 2020

Managing and Supporting Change Policy 18-Jan-2017 3 years High Statutory Full Council Approved January 2020

Whistleblowing Policy - Confidential 
Reporting Code

18-Jan-2017 3 years High Statutory Full Council Approved January 2020

Health & Safety Policy 31-Mar-2015 2 years High Statutory Full Council Approved March 2017

Corporate Asbestos Policy 22-Jun-2016 2 years High Statutory Full Council Approved June 2018

P
age 24



3

Policy Title Approved 
Date

Policy Review 
Cycle 

Policy Risk 
Level 

Policy Type Final Panel for 
Approval

Policy Status Date to Final 
Panel for 
Approval

Statement of Licensing Policy 07-Jan-2016 4 years High Constitutional Full Council Approved Jan 2020

Gambling Policy - Statement of Principles 16-Dec-2015 3 years High Constitutional Full Council Approved Dec 2018

Sexual Establishments Policy Statement 19-Jun-2013 3 years Medium Non Statutory Licensing Committee Overdue May 2017

Asset Management Strategy 18-Jun-2014 5 years High Constitutional Full Council Approved June 2019

Affordable Housing Policy 01-Jan-2009 3 years Low Non Statutory Full Council Being Reviewed Sept 2017

Strategic Tenancy Policy 12-Sep-2012 3 years Low Statutory Full Council Being Reviewed Sept 2017

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Place – Rob Walker

To: Policy Development Panel – 28 February 2017 

Author: Phil Stacey Senior Housing Advice Officer

Subject: Addressing Long Term Empty Homes

Purpose: Present an update on the current situation

Recommendation(s): 

That the Policy Development Panel note the progress made on addressing long term empty homes

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 13 January 2016, Policy Development Panel received a report on Addressing Long 
Term Empty Homes.

1.2 A briefing report has been produced which is attached at Appendix A to this report. The
appended document provides an overview of the following:

 Performance in returning empty homes back into use
 Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme 
 South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1: That the Panel considers the information and provides feedback.

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The reason for recommendation is for Policy Development Panel to consider the appended
briefing report and provide feedback.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To return 75 empty homes to use per annum.

4.2 To maximise New Homes Bonus income to the authority.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

Page 27

Agenda Item 9.



5.2.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between work around empty homes and our corporate priorities,
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
and thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1   There is often a link between empty dwellings and anti-social behaviour. Addressing the
  issue of long term properties should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti
  social behaviour.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1   It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The additional resource committed retrospectively within the strategy has a financial
implication for the authority. This has been dealt with as part of a previous exercise.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring
empty homes back into use. For example, the use of non-mandatory enforcement powers
(i.e. Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders etc.) carry with them
certain degrees of financial risk. However, decisions to utilise these powers will be made 
on a case by case basis and only where enforcement action is deemed as the last option
available to the authority to bring a dwelling back into use.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are staffing implications of undertaking additional work on empty homes. The
Authority recruited additional resource during early 2014 to support the Council’s work in
this area.

Page 28



5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders, but empty homes work will require the 
Council to adopt a partnership approach. There are no known implications in terms of
timescales and consultation.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers: - Addressing Long Term Empty Homes in South Holland. July 
2015

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey. Senior Housing Advice Officer
Telephone Number: 01775 764605
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A: Briefing Report – Empty Homes in South Holland Update

Page 29

mailto:philstacey@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix A

Briefing Report: Empty Homes in South Holland Update

1. Report purpose

This briefing report provides an update on South Holland District Council’s approach to returning long 
term empty homes to use. It sets out the activity that it undertakes to return dwellings to use, and the 
progress made in accordance with the South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16. 

2. Performance in returning empty homes back into use

In October 2016, SHDC had 232 empty properties; this was a reduction of 258 from the previous 
year. 

Currently; SHDC has 249 properties empty. 

175 properties have been empty for between 6 months and 2 years and 74 properties have been 
empty for over 2 years.

From 1st October to 22nd December 2016; 103 properties have been bought back into use: of these, 
28 were only bought back into use following the direct intervention of the team

3. Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme

SHDC will receive about £180745.76 in new homes bonus this year directly because of the above 
work

4. South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 

The strategy sets out our general approach to returning empty homes to use. It is structured along the 
lines of four ‘priorities for action’, those being: 

 The understand the extent of empty homes in the district, including their location and reason 
for being vacant

 To raise awareness of empty dwellings in the district, and develop partnerships that can 
assist the authority in addressing the issues

 Develop a range of options, incentives and measures designed to assist, encourage and 
where necessary compel owners to return their property back to use

 Ensuring adequate resources to undertake empty homes work, and develop a systematic 
approach to dealing with empty homes in the future

The document makes a commitment to seek to return 75 dwelling back into use per annum for the 
lifespan of the strategy. 

5. The progress made against actions

Below is a summary of the progress made against the actions within the strategy

Planned Action Action 
Status

Comments 

To undertake an annual data cleanse of council 
tax records. This is in order to ensure that 
properties listed on council tax records as empty 
are indeed vacant, and not occupied.

GREEN
This is completed with support from 
CPBS.

To undertake a rolling programme of postal 
surveys to owners of properties which have been 
empty for greater than six months. This is in order 
to establish the reasons for the property 

GREEN
The programme is established and in 
operation. 

Page 31



2

becoming vacant, the reasons why it remains 
empty, and the barriers to bringing the dwelling 
back into use.
Establish a Long Term Empty Homes Task 
Group, consisting of teams across the authority 
with both an interest in addressing the problems 
associated with individual long term empty 
homes, along with teams who hold statutory 
powers that may assist the authority in achieving 
its desired aims.

GREEN
This group is established and meets 
to discuss cross-departmental 
approaches to address individual 
long-term empty homes

To engage key organisations in the council’s 
empty homes work. To ensure that an ongoing 
dialogue takes place between the council and 
partner agencies to ensure that all opportunities 
to draw upon the resources, skills and expertise 
of other organisations is explored.

AMBER
SHDC has engaged with private 
landlords, agents and investors for 
joint work around empty homes. Work 
still needs to be undertaken to involve 
and engage the police, parish 
councils and fire and rescue services. 

Establish a dedicated ‘Advice and Assistance on 
Empty Homes’ space on SHDC’s webpage, along 
with a mechanism to allow member of the public 
to report details of empty homes directly to the 
authority. To look to use social media and other 
outlets to publicise the authority’s work in this 
area.

AMBER
The space on the website is yet to be 
developed (pending a wider review of 
SHDC’s website). Social media has 
been used extensively to promote our 
work around empty homes. 

Establish a ‘South Holland Empty Homes Advice 
Scheme’ for use by owners of empty dwellings. GREEN

The advice scheme has been 
established, led by the authority’s 
Private Sector Housing team in 
conjunction with Building Control, 
Planning and the wider Housing team. 

Develop access to public and privately-led Empty 
Homes ‘lease and repair’ schemes AMBER

The authority is working with a 
number of housing associations to 
facilitate access to ‘lease and repair 
schemes’. South Holland was a 
partner of the government-backed 
national Empty Homes Loan Scheme, 
but that scheme folded in October 
2014. 

Establish an Empty Homes Property Matching 
Service GREEN

The Empty Homes Property Matching 
Scheme is now established, with 37 
property investors as part of the 
scheme. 

Where it is considered appropriate to do so, and 
on a case-by-case basis, the council will utilise 
enforcement powers to bring about the re-use of 
long term vacant dwellings.

GREEN
The authority is presently initiating 
enforcement action for a small 
number of properties where 
prolonged attempts to support owners 
to return their dwellings to use have 
failed. 

Increase officer resource by 0.6FTE, thus 
providing the authority with a full time officer 
resource with which to address empty homes and 
delivery the Empty Homes Strategy.  

GREEN
Completed in April 2014

Produce an Empty Homes Delivery Plan that sets 
out how officer resources will be allocated in 
order to achieve the council’s empty homes 
target.

GREEN
Completed 

In addition, SHDC is in the process of working on 3 priority cases, which could shortly end in legal 
action; for example: two of these cases may result in SHDC using its powers to compulsory purchase 
the empty home.

Page 32



3

Resources will be directed towards the 74 properties that have been empty for over 2 years and to 
publicise and encourage owners and other stakeholders to engage positively with SHDC.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Stinson – Shared Executive Manager Governance

To: Policy Development Panel

Author: Andy Prior - Digital & Customer Access Manager

Subject: Final Reports of the PDP Reduction in Printing & Postage Task Group

Purpose: To present the Task Group’s Final Reports to the Panel for consideration.

Recommendations: 

To approve the Final Reports of the Printing and Postage Task Group, prior to its 
consideration by the Cabinet.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   Introduction

1.1.1   The Task Group was established to look at printing and postage across the council; it 
commenced its work on 24th October 2016 and concluded on the 9th February 2017.

1.1.2 The scope of the Task Group was:

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee agendas
 To review the use of printed material produced by the South Holland Centre
 To review the use of printed materials produced in relation to electoral information, 

council tax and business rates
 To review the use of printed materials by officers
 To formulate a policy
 To make recommendations for reduction in use of printed material.

1.1.3 The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors J R Astill, (Chairman) H 
Drury, M Pullen and A Woolf.  Cllr J McLean was initially on the task group but withdrew 
after the first meeting and was replaced by M Pullen. The Lead officer was A Prior.

1.2       Review Process

1.2.1 The Task Group met on a number of occasions between 24th October and 9th February to 
consider: 1. the printing and postage of agenda packs 2. Officer printing 3. Reducing in 
material printed and posted to residents.

1.2.2 A number of surveys were circulated to members and officers to establish current use and 
measure the appetite for change. 

   
1.2.3 The following witnesses were interviewed by the Task Group:

 Sally Harrison – South Holland Centre Manager
 Andrea Tait  – South Holland Centre Marketing Manager
 Rebecca Dale  – Revenues Support Agent Compass Point

Page 35

Agenda Item 10.



 Matt Fitzgerald – Web Technician Compass Point

1.2.2 The evidence and information received was analysed collectively to inform the 
conclusions and recommendations contained with the Final Reports, which are attached 
at Appendixes  A, B and C

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The Panel may:

 Approve the Task Group’s Final Reports for consideration by the Cabinet; or
 Request that alterations be made/further consideration be given to the Final Reports 

prior to its presentation to the Cabinet; or
 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That the Final Reports received approval for its consideration by the Cabinet.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 If approved by the Performance Monitoring Panel and the Cabinet, the reports and their 
recommendations will be taken on board to improve processes and reduce costs, as 
identified.

4.2 If agreed by the Cabinet, the timelines for implementation of the recommendations will be 
considered and monitored by the Panel.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1        Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The recommendations will, if approved, result in the council’s carbon footprint being 
reduced.       

5.2  Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The recommendations are all in line with the council’s transformation aims 

5.3        FINANCIAL

5.3.1 The reports’ recommendations highlight potential savings of up to £12,637 per year 
although it recommends that some of this is reinvested in AV equipment

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The conclusions of the report will impact all members’ officers and residents of South 
Holland.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Page 36



Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Andy Prior – Digital and Customer Access Manager
Telephone Number: 07870 835230
Email: andy.prior@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Committee Agendas v2.01

Appendix B External Printing v1.0

Appendix C Officers Agenda Printing v1.0

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review of  
 
 
 
 

Printing and Postage of Committee Agenda Packs 
 
 
 
 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13th February 2017 
  

Page 39



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

Page 40



Contents  
 
 

1. Introduction 

2. Scope of the Review 

3. Membership of Task Group 

4. Background to Review 

5. Method of Review 

6. Summary of Findings 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations 

8. Financial implications of recommendations 

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 

10. Abbreviations 

 

Appendices 

A1. Summary of Agendas Produced – October 2015 to September 2016. 

A2. Summary of Agenda Distribution. 

A3. Members Survey Comments. 

A4.  Officers Survey Comments. 

  

Page 41



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 
 

Page 42



Page 1 
 

1. Introduction. 
 
1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 

commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient. 

 
1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing South 

Holland District Council agendas to Members and Officers.  This breaks down 
into: 

 

 Paper cost. 

 Consumables cost, including rental of devices and per page copy charge. 

 Democratic Services Officer time, to print, collate and distribute agendas. 

 Postage cost, at 1st class for those Members who do not collect from 
Priory Road. 

 
2. Scope of the Review. 
 
2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as: 

 

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee 
agendas. 

 To formulate a member policy. 

 To make recommendations for an officer policy. 
 

The Task Group also looked at other internal/external printed material, but these 
are considered in separate reports. 

 
3. Membership of Task Group. 
 
3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 

and A Woolf.  
 
3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 

Councillor M Pullen. 
 

3.3 The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was supported by 
Democratic Services.  The Task Group would like to thank Shelley French for the 
initial work in collating details of agendas produced. 

 
4. Background to Review. 
 
4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 

(Transformation) Programme and ICT Working Group requesting a review of the 
way Members receive agenda packs, with a view to making potential savings. 

 
5. Method of Review. 
 
5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 9th February 

to consider the printing of agenda packs. 

Page 43



Page 2 
 

 
5.2 Information was sourced from agendas printed between October 2015 and 

September 2016 for the following committees: 
 

 Cabinet. 

 Committee of the Licencing Authority. 

 Full Council. 

 Governance and Audit. 

 Joint PDP/PMP. 

 Licencing Committee. 

 Licencing Panel. 

 Panel of the Committee of the Licencing Authority. 

 Performance Monitoring Panel. 

 Planning Committee. 

 Policy Development Panel. 

 South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee. 

 Spalding Town Forum. 

 Standards Panel. 

 Informal Meetings. 
 
5.3 For each agenda pack produced, the following was collated: 
 

 The number of pages printed per agenda for the specified period. 

 The distribution for each agenda. 
 
5.4 Democratic Services / Compass Point Business Services provided: 
 

 The cost of 1st and 2nd Class postage for the different weights and sizes of 
letters. 

 The cost of rental of the two Democratic Services MFDs along with the 
cost per printing each page. 

 
5.5 Members and officers to be surveyed across several questions associated with 

their use of mod.gov and how they receive agendas.  
 
6. Summary of Findings. 
 
6.1 Printing and Postage. 
 
6.1.1 The task group identified that across the period of October 2015 and 

September 2016 for the 10 committees, there were: 
 

 87 individual meetings. 

 2603 agendas printed. 
 

6.1.2 The figures above translate to the following A4 paper usage: 
 

 99780 sheets (printed as duplex so using both sides). 

 199.56 reams. 

 39.31 boxes. 

Page 44



Page 3 
 

 
6.1.3 The total cost of consumables (e.g. paper and printing costs) was £1237, this 

breaks down into: 
 

 £739 for Members agendas. 

 £153 for Officer agendas. 

 £172 for Clerks agendas (used as spares for Members who forget their 
printed copy). 

 £173 for Statutory purposes (e.g. access to information files, reception 
notice boards and external recipients). 

 
Notes:  
 

 The costs exclude the quarterly rentals of £964 for the MPC8002 device 
and £81 for the MPC6501 device located in Democratic Services. 

 The costs assume ALL printing is in monochrome, as it is not possible to 
estimate what proportion is in colour.  The cost per colour page for the 
Democratic Services MFDs is on average £0.03 higher than monochrome. 

 
6.1.4 The estimated cost of postage for members is £1387.  This is calculated using 

the pricing information provided by CPBS.  A formula is used to estimate the 
weight of the agenda being posted. 

 
Note: Postage cost excludes the cost of the 1157 envelopes used.   

 
6.1.5 The estimated officer time and cost is 260 hours or £4005 (this is calculated 

using an on cost of £30k per annum, with the provision that an officer can 
collate 10 agendas per hour).  This breaks down into: 
 

 147 hours or £2263 for Members agendas. 

 33 hours or £503 for Officers agendas. 

 39 hours or £605 for Members agendas. 

 41 hours or £634 for Statutory purposes (e.g. access to information files 
reception notice boards and external recipients). 

Page 45



Page 4 
 

6.2 Survey Results. 
 
6.2.1 Across the period the survey was live for members to complete, 30 out of 37 provided responses. 
 
6.2.2 Across the period the survey was live for officers to complete, 17 out of 24 provided responses. 

 
6.2.3 Not all questions asked were directly related to printing of agendas, therefore a summary of the responses is shown below.  A full copy of 

the results can be found in the appendix of this report.  
 
6.2.4 Question 1 – How often do you use the Mod.Gov application to view committee agendas?  

 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 
 

6.2.5 Question 2 – Do you feel that more training is required on the Mod.Gov application before you can use it to read agendas? 
 

Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 
 
  

Respo nse  

Pe rcent

Respo nse  

Count

10.0% 3

70.0% 21

20.0% 6

30

0

Don't use Mod.gov

All agendas

skipped  que stion

Answer Op tions

a nswered  q ue stion

Some agendas

Response  

Pe rcent

Resp o nse  

Co unt

11.8% 2

47.1% 8

11.8% 5

11.8% 2

17

0skipped  q uestion

Don't use Mod.gov

All agendas

answered  q uestion

Answer Op tions

Do not attend committee meetings

Some agendas

Respo nse  

Pe rcent

Respo nse  

Count

34.5% 10

48.3% 14

17.2% 5

29

1skipped  que stion

No

a nswered  q ue stion

Yes

Not sure

Answer Op tions
Response  

Pe rcent

Resp o nse  

Co unt

53.3% 8

20.0% 3

26.7% 4

15

2skipped  q uestion

No

answered  q uestion

Yes

N/A

Answer Op tions

P
age 46



Page 5 
 

6.2.6 Question 3 – Do you collect your agendas or have them posted? 
 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 
 
 
Officers were not asked this question, therefore no comparison 

available. 

 
6.2.7 Question 4 – Individual Committees: 

 
6.2.7.1 Are you a member of or do you attend this committee? 
 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 
 
6.2.7.2 Use Mod.Gov to view agendas? 
 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 

Re sp o nse  

Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  

Co unt

27.6% 8

65.5% 19

6.9% 2

29

1skip p e d  question

Posted

answered  q ue stio n

Collect

N/A - (Access everything online)

Answer Op tions

Yes No
Response  

Count

9 13 22

9 12 21

25 1 26

5 15 20

10 10 20

10 10 20

13 10 23

Answer Op tions

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Yes No
Response  

Count

6 8 14

5 9 14

5 9 14

3 10 13

7 7 14

7 7 14

1 13 14

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Cabinet

Full Council

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Licensing Committees (any)

Answer Op tions

All the  time Occasiona lly No t a t a ll
Response  

Count

4 9 4 17

1 7 10 18

2 14 9 25

0 7 7 14

1 10 6 17

1 9 5 15

1 14 4 19

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Answer Op tions

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

All the  time Occasiona lly No t a t a ll
Response  

Count

4 4 1 9

3 2 4 9

3 3 2 8

2 2 5 9

3 2 3 8

3 2 3 8

2 1 3 6

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answer Op tions

Cabinet

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Licensing Committees (any)

P
age 47



Page 6 
 

6.2.7.3 Do you receive a printed copy of the agenda? 
 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 
 
6.2.7.4 Happy to receive agendas electronically? 
 
Member responses: 
 

 

Officer responses: 
 

 
  
6.2.8 Question 5 – Digital Transformation (Officers were not asked this question, therefore no comparison available): 
 

 
  

Yes No
Response  

Count

12 9 21

9 10 19

25 1 26

6 10 16

10 5 15

11 4 15

21 0 21

Answer Op tions

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Yes No
Response  

Count

4 6 10

3 7 10

4 5 9

3 7 10

4 6 10

4 6 10

1 7 8

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answer Op tions

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

12 6 18

12 7 19

10 15 25

10 5 15

12 6 18

11 5 16

11 11 22

Licensing Committees (any)

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

8 0 8

9 0 9

7 0 7

8 0 8

7 0 7

7 0 7

5 0 5

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Licensing Committees (any)

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Strong ly  

Ag ree
Agree No  View Disagree

Strong ly  

D isag ree

Response  

Count

9 16 2 2 0 29

10 18 1 0 0 29

8 17 2 2 0 29

29

1skipped  question

The Council is correct in providing more electronic 

answered  question

As a member I fully understand the council's 

As a member I fully understand that the Council should 

Answer Op tions

P
age 48



Page 7 
 

6.2.9 Question 6 – Statements on Printing and Postage: 
 

Members responses: 

 
 

Officers responses: 

 

Stro ng ly  

Ag re e
Ag re e No  Vie w Disa g re e

Stro ng ly  

D isa g re e

Re sp o nse  

Co unt

9 14 3 2 1 29

5 14 4 3 2 28

11 12 2 4 0 29

12 9 2 4 2 29

6 14 5 3 0 28

5 14 2 6 0 27

29

1sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

Mod.Gov application is an easy way to view 

agendas?

Recipients who want agendas posted should have 

these sent 2nd class?

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Printing spare copies of agendas Democratic 

Services should stop printing spare copies of 

agendas for members of officers immediately?

Recipients should Opt-in to having agendas printed 

and posted for them?

Pad screen size is suitable for reading agendas?

Printing copies of the Planning agenda for members 

who are not on the committee should stop 

immediately?

Stro ng ly  

Ag re e
Ag re e No  Vie w Disa g re e

Stro ng ly  

D isa g re e

Re sp o nse  

Co unt

10 3 0 1 1 15

10 2 1 1 1 15

14 0 0 1 0 15

11 1 1 2 0 15

5 6 1 2 0 14

6 4 1 1 3 15

15

2

Printing copies of the Planning agenda for members 

who are not on the committee should stop immediately

sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

Mod.Gov application is an easy way to view agendas

Members who want agendas posted should have 

these sent 2nd class

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Democratic Services should stop printing spare 

copies of agendas for members of officers 

immediately

Recipients should opt-in to having agendas printed 

(and posted where applicable) for them

Your device screen size is suitable for reading 

agendas

P
age 49



Page 8 
 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations. 
 
7.1 Conclusions Reached: 
 

 That a significant amount of officer time is spent printing/collating agendas 
for members/officers and posting agendas to members.  Any reduction in 
officer time spent on this task would increase the amount of time available 
supporting members. 

 That savings could be made on printing costs by asking members to opt-in 
(rather than opt-out) of printing. 

 That small savings could be made on postage costs by sending any 
printed agendas by 2nd class mail. 

 Some committees lead themselves towards having printed agendas (e.g. 
those containing finance reports). 

 Agendas largely containing simple text can be viewed easily via the 
Mod.Gov application. 

 That electronic devices should be used more effectively to view agendas. 

 A majority of members surveyed were happy to receive agendas 
electronically with the exception of Full Council. 

 As the council makes more of its services available online and encourages 
residents to use these more efficient services, offices and members should 
be leading by example and creating a paperless environment. 

 
 
7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations, these were all 

supported by the finding of both the officers and members’ surveys by a 
clear majority. 

 
7.2.1 Non-cash: 
 

 That further training should be provided to members and officers on the 
use of Mod.Gov application to review and annotate agendas. 

 
7.2.2 Cash: 
 

 That meeting rooms 1 and 2 plus the Council Chamber should have fixed 
projectors or display equipment installed, and that use of these becomes 
commonplace within ALL meetings. 

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices. 

 From 1st May 2017: 
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas. 
o Any agendas being posted are sent 2nd Class. 
o Planning agendas are not automatically printed for those not on the 

committee. 
o Democratic Services no longer produce spare copies of agendas 

for members use or copies for officer’s use. 

Page 50



Page 9 
 

o Full Council agenda is reduced in size by including electronic links 
to Committee Minutes. 

 
8. Financial Implications of Recommendations. 
 
8.1 Cost: 
 

Notes Cost 

Display Equipment for MR1 
and MR2 

Circa £10k (final cost would depend on 
requirements of members/officers) 

Projector for Council Chamber Costs included within the £56.8k budget to 
upgrade Council Chamber equipment (officer 

decision 4.15) 

Deploy collaboration software 
to Officer and Member devices 

Costs should be built into the ICT Refresh 
project. 

 
8.2 Potential Savings Per Year: 
 

Item Consumables Postage Officer Time 
(hours) 

Recipients opt-in to receiving 
agendas printed and posted 
(25% to 75%) 

£309 to £927 £346 to 
£1040 

45 to 135 

Sending posted agendas by 
second class. 

n/a £225 n/a 

Not automatically printing 
planning agendas for ALL 
members. 

£87 £267 24 

Stop printing spare copies of 
agendas for members 

£171 £0 39 

Stop printing copies of agendas 
for officers 

£153 £0 32 

 
Notes:  
 

 The savings shown are calculated from the actual printing/postage costs 
shown in section 6 of this report. 

 It is not possible to estimate the savings for removing the printed pages of 
other Committee Minutes. 

 
9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review. 
 
9.1 The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 

paragraph 5. 
 
  

Page 51



Page 10 
 

10. Abbreviations. 
 

Abbreviation Description 

MFD Multi-Function Device (e.g. 
Photocopier) 

CPBS Compass Point Business Services 

 
 
 

Page 52



Page 11 
 

Appendices. 
 
A1. Summary of agendas produced – October 2015 to September 2016: 
 
A1.1 Members: 
 

 

Total Agendas 

Printed

Cost 

Consumables

Total Agendas 

Posted
Cost Postage

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 105 £67.89 56 £72.16 10.50 £161.54

Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 60 £17.11 40 £41.40 6.00 £92.31

Full Council 9 1392 333 £319.32 243 £377.46 33.30 £512.31

Governance and Audit 7 830 42 £30.88 28 £41.84 4.20 £64.62

Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 125 £62.31 105 £129.15 12.50 £192.31

Licensing Committee 4 26 60 £2.42 40 £31.60 6.00 £92.31

Licensing Panel 2 20 6 £0.37 6 £4.74 0.60 £9.23

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 36 £13.99 36 £41.46 3.60 £55.38

Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 60 £20.27 52 £57.20 6.00 £92.31

Planning 11 640 407 £146.82 352 £388.80 40.70 £626.15

Policy Development Panel 5 228 80 £22.62 70 £72.66 8.00 £123.08

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 24 £7.59 20 £20.70 2.40 £36.92

Spalding Town Forum 4 28 44 £1.91 24 £18.96 4.40 £67.69

Standards Panel 2 8 12 £0.30 8 £6.32 1.20 £18.46

Strategy Board 7 368 77 £25.10 77 £82.39 7.70 £118.46

Totals 87 6030 1471 £738.89 1157 £1,386.84 147.10 £2,263.08

Committee

Members

Total Pages per 

Committee

Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 53



Page 12 
 

A1.2 Officers: 
 

 

Total Agendas 

Printed

Cost 

Consumables

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 28 £18.10 2.8 £43.08

Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 20 £5.70 2 £30.77

Full Council 9 1392 54 £51.78 5.4 £83.08

Governance and Audit 7 830 21 £15.44 2.1 £32.31

Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 10 £4.98 1 £15.38

Licensing Committee 4 26 20 £0.81 2 £30.77

Licensing Panel 2 20 8 £0.50 0.8 £12.31

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 48 £18.65 4.8 £73.85

Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 12 £4.05 1.2 £18.46

Planning 11 640 55 £19.84 5.5 £84.62

Policy Development Panel 5 228 15 £4.24 1.5 £23.08

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 0 £0.00 0 £0.00

Spalding Town Forum 4 28 0 £0.00 0 £0.00

Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.8 £12.31

Strategy Board 7 368 28 £9.13 2.8 £43.08

Totals 87 6030 327 £153.43 32.70 £503.08

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee

Total Committee

Meetings

Officers

P
age 54



Page 13 
 

A1.3 Clerk (e.g. spare copies for Members): 
 

 
 

Total Agendas 

Printed

Cost 

Consumables

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 35 £22.63 3.50 £53.85

Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 16 £4.56 1.60 £24.62

Full Council 9 1392 45 £43.15 4.50 £69.23

Governance and Audit 7 830 28 £20.58 2.80 £43.08

Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 20 £9.97 2.00 £30.77

Licensing Committee 4 26 16 £0.64 1.60 £24.62

Licensing Panel 2 20 10 £0.62 1.00 £15.38

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 60 £23.31 6.00 £92.31

Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 16 £5.41 1.60 £24.62

Planning 11 640 55 £19.84 5.50 £84.62

Policy Development Panel 5 228 20 £5.65 2.00 £30.77

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 16 £5.06 1.60 £24.62

Spalding Town Forum 4 28 20 £0.87 2.00 £30.77

Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.80 £12.31

Strategy Board 7 368 28 £9.13 2.80 £43.08

Totals 87 6030 393 £171.63 39.30 £604.62

Clerks

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee

Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 55



Page 14 
 

A1.4 Statutory/External: 
 

 

Total Agendas 

Printed

Cost 

Consumables

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 28 £18.10 2.8 £43.08

Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 16 £4.56 1.6 £24.62

Full Council 9 1392 36 £34.52 3.6 £55.38

Governance and Audit 7 830 28 £20.58 2.8 £43.08

Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 20 £9.97 2 £30.77

Licensing Committee 4 26 16 £0.64 1.6 £24.62

Licensing Panel 2 20 14 £0.87 1.4 £21.54

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 120 £46.62 12 £184.62

Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 16 £5.41 1.6 £24.62

Planning 11 640 44 £15.87 4.4 £67.69

Policy Development Panel 5 228 20 £5.65 2 £30.77

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 16 £5.06 1.6 £24.62

Spalding Town Forum 4 28 16 £0.69 1.6 £24.62

Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.8 £12.31

Strategy Board 7 368 14 £4.56 1.4 £21.54

Totals 87 6030 412 £173.33 41.2 £633.85

Statutory / External

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee

Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 56



Page 15 
 

A1.5 Summary: 
 
 

 

Total Agendas 

Printed

Total Agenda 

Pages Printed 

(per Committee)

Total 

Consumables 

Cost for Year 

(per Committee)

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

Estimated 

Postage Cost

Cabinet 7 730 196 730 £126.73 19.60 £301.54 £72.16 £520.03

Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 112 184 £31.94 11.20 £172.31 £41.40 £256.85

Full Council 9 1392 468 1392 £448.78 46.80 £720.00 £377.46 £1,593.04

Governance and Audit 7 830 119 830 £87.48 11.90 £183.08 £41.84 £324.30

Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 175 402 £87.23 17.50 £269.23 £129.15 £503.11

Licensing Committee 4 26 112 26 £4.51 11.20 £172.31 £31.60 £219.62

Licensing Panel 2 20 38 20 £2.36 3.80 £58.46 £4.74 £69.36

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 264 752 £102.57 26.40 £406.15 £41.46 £576.59

Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 104 218 £35.14 10.40 £160.00 £57.20 £262.74

Planning 11 640 561 640 £202.37 56.10 £863.08 £388.80 £1,510.34

Policy Development Panel 5 228 135 228 £38.17 13.50 £207.69 £72.66 £332.02

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 56 204 £17.71 5.60 £86.15 £20.70 £130.16

Spalding Town Forum 4 28 80 28 £3.47 8.00 £123.08 £18.96 £153.51

Standards Panel 2 8 36 8 £0.89 3.60 £55.38 £6.32 £66.20

Strategy Board 7 368 147 368 £47.91 14.70 £226.15 £82.39 £371.16

Totals 87 6030 2603 6030 £1,237.27 260.30 £4,004.62 £1,386.84 £6,889.03

Summary

Total CostCommittee
Total Pages per 

Committee

Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 57



Page 16 
 

A2 Summary of agenda distribution: 
 

 
 

Committee Members Posted Officers Clerk Access to 

Info files

Reception Agenda - 

notice board

External Total

Cabinet 15 8 4 5 2 1 1 0 28

Committee of the Licensing Authority 15 10 5 4 2 1 1 0 28

Full Council 37 27 6 5 2 1 1 0 52

Governance and Audit 6 4 3 4 2 1 1 0 17

Joint PMP/PDP 25 21 2 4 2 1 1 0 35

Licensing Committee 15 10 5 4 2 1 1 0 28

Licensing Panel 3 3 4 5 2 1 1 3 19

Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 3 3 4 5 2 1 1 6 22

Performance Monitoring Panel 15 13 3 4 2 1 1 0 26

Planning 37 32 5 5 2 1 1 0 51

Policy Development Panel 16 14 3 4 2 1 1 0 27

South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 6 5 0 4 2 1 1 0 14

Spalding Town Forum 11 6 0 5 2 1 1 0 20

Standards Panel 6 4 4 4 2 1 1 0 18

Strategy Board 11 11 4 4 2 0 0 0 21

221 171 52 66 30 14 14 9 406

P
age 58



Page 17 
 

A3 Member Survey Comments. 
 

iPad screen viewing of an agenda with more than 30 pages is not acceptable to me. I always make notes on paper 
agendas and will continue to do so. 
 

I believe all agendas should be put into the members draw in the members room and not posted. 
 

If we progress towards the electronic route, the main committee rooms and chamber should have fixed projectors 
installed in each location. Using a projector as part of the running of a meeting should become commonplace. For 
the planning agenda to progress down the electronic route, the agenda sheet needs to have the address details 
shown in addition to the planning system reference. iPad screens whilst small are suitable for reading agendas that 
are predominantly text, but for reports that contain graphical style reports or budget information I find that difficult. 
When members devices are refreshed larger screens should be considered. 
 

Occasionally it is good to see the view bigger, such as for plans, but these could be printed out individually if 
necessary. 
 

Get on with it. people will adapt quickly if have to. Some people will moan. They did when we stopped using quill, 
chalk & slates. 
 

There is a need to ensure Members do not become less informed due to the transition. 
 

2nd class postage would require the officers to prepare the agendas in a timely fashion. 
Stopped using mod.com unable to recall passwords etc. 
 

The questions are somewhat leading therefore aimed just at providing the answers required by the task group 
rather than the actual true opinion at times - and disregards the methods that residents may opt for as a preference 
of postage Re the agendas being sent 2nd class- sometimes there is barely enough time for the agendas to be 
read at the moment as sometimes late receiving them 
 

Whereas I fully support the access to agendas via mod.gov, there will always be times when hard copy of 
complicated documents will be necessary. Consideration should be given to an individual call off in such cases. 

P
age 59



Page 18 
 

Training and encouragement should be considered to the printing facility in the members' room to support this view 
to reduce officer time in such cases. 
 

Some supplements and Appendices to Agendas can be difficult to view electronically, due to the orientation of the 
layout, so may have to be issued separately (in Member's drawer), for large agendas such as Full Council and 
Governance & Audit. 
 

Planning agendas for ward members not on committee should ONLY cover those particular applications. I agreed 
to collect my agenda even though I am one of the remotest members. 
 

Some questions are too black and white, as no doubt was the intention. For casual glancing through an agenda, an 
iPad is ideal, especially if you are not a member of that particular committee, panel. However, I remain concerned 
that the slant of these particular questions, is the start of a process that could lead to the removal of paper copies 
of every agenda. In respect of planning and licensing, and especially planning, I can see no opportunity to make 
members comfortable with an iPad based agenda being used to make what can often be very important decisions 
with far reaching implications. These decisions have an impact well beyond the bounds of the council and in many 
cases, are impossible to reverse. As a minimum, within the chamber, the viewing medium would have to be much 
improved and offer the committee members the opportunity to easily view more than one page at a time, something 
not suited to an iPad screen. Images projected as part of the presentation are currently poor and these too would 
need to be vastly improved, with easy access to the online background paperwork potentially needed. All these 
requirements would need to balanced against the projected savings in printing and postage. My concerns are 
similar when it comes to the cabinet agendas in respect of cabinet members and their decision making 
responsibilities. There is certainly scope for the immediate introduction of a hybrid system, whereby elements of any 
agenda are only made available electronically. Far too many annexes and supplementary pages are included with 
core reports as background papers, often unnecessarily in paper form, even if they do have to be titled and 
referenced. The most recent full council agenda is a perfect example of this, with its referred from cabinet report 
about a municipal bonds agency. 9+ cabinet agendas, became 37+ full council agendas, with a report containing 
an annex of 60+ pages. I think you get my point mini rant over ;-) 
 

 
 
 

P
age 60



Page 19 
 

A4 Officer Survey Comments. 
 

I tend to use Mod.Gov to submit reports rather then to view them routinely. I normally only print for internal 
meetings where I need to make notes as it's sometimes hard to keep up trying to make notes on the laptop, 
although I'm getting better at this. 
 

Need to understand how you would view large excel documents etc. 
 

My view is that, so long as the kit works properly and agenda papers are also projected, we should go all 
electronic. I have indicate that we should not send agendas second class and should not stop printing spares. this 
is because, if some members really cannot get on with electronic versions, then we should not disadvantage them 
by slowing down the delivery - and we should have a very small number of spare hard copies - say 3. 
 

If we are to encourage residents (and members) to move to digital means we need to be leading by example. The 
money saved by the reduction in paper and postage should be reinvested in better AV equipment to allow all 
meetings to be paperless. 
 

Officers other than EMT members who have I-pads are not provided the tools to access committee reports 
electronically. Democratic services need to significantly improve the training they provide on mod.gov. 
 

I no longer print agendas or papers for meetings. I take my laptop to all meetings and use MS OneNote to record 
all my notes. I find this to be extremely useful and haven't used a paper notebook for meetings since. 
 

Frequent drop-outs and intermittent Wi-Fi access within the building and also in external venue is only mitigated 
through taking paper copy. Until this is improved it is very difficult to ditch the paper! Reliability of surface pro and 
small screen size do not help when staring down at such a device for a long period during a meeting. 
 

Inability to make own notes on electronic agenda papers is severely limiting. An appropriate device would be 
hugely beneficial. 
 

People's individual needs from an equalities perspective should be considered rather than a blanket ban. 
 

P
age 61



Page 20 
 

 

P
age 62



E 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review of  
 
 
 
 

Printing and Postage of External Items 
 
 
 
 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13th February 2017 
  

Page 63



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

Page 64



Contents  
 
 

1. Introduction 

2. Scope of the Review 

3. Membership of Task Group 

4. Background to Review 

5. Method of Review 

6. Summary of Findings 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations 

8. Financial implications of recommendations 

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 

10. Abbreviations 

 

 

  

Page 65



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 
 

Page 66



Page 1 
 

1. Introduction. 
 
1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 

commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient. 

 
1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing electoral 

registration letters, council tax and business rate bills. 
 

1.3 The South Holland Centre produces a significant amount of printed material to 
promote activities at the centre. 

 
2. Scope of the Review. 
 
2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as: 

 

 To review the use of printed materials produced by the South Holland 
Centre. 

 To review the use of printed materials produced in relation to electoral 
information, council tax and business rates. 

 To make recommendations for reduction in use of printed materials. 
 

The Task Group also looked at Committee Reports/other internal printed 
material, but these are considered in separate reports. 
 

3. Membership of Task Group. 
 
3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 

and A Woolf.  The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was 
supported by Democratic Services. 

 
3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 

Councillor M Pullen. 
 

4. Background to Review. 
 
4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 

(Transformation) Programme review of the way printed material is used to 
communicate with residents.  

 
5. Method of Review. 
 
5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 6th February 

to consider the printing of agenda packs. 
 
5.2 Information was sourced from: 
 

 Compass Point Business Services in relation to council tax and business 
rates. 

 Democratic Services in relation to electoral information. 

Page 67



Page 2 
 

 South Holland Centre Manager and Andy Prior in relation to the South 
Holland Centre. 

 
5.3 The Task Group also investigated the current provision for viewing council tax 
and business rate bills online and the potential for e-billing in the future.  

 
6. Summary of Findings. 
 
6.1 Electoral Information. 
 
6.1.1 As the distribution of information relating to elections is heavily legislated, the 

Task Group has de-scoped this from our investigations. 
 

6.2 Council Tax. 
 
6.2.1 There are 40016 live accounts registered on Compass Point systems. 

  
6.2.2 The payment method for these accounts are: 
 

 26303 (65.73%) who make payment via direct debit. 

 13713 (34.27%) who make payment via cash or cheque. 
 

6.2.3 The bills are generated electronically by Compass Point, but sent to an 3rd 
party organisation for printing and posting, the cost of this is £20000. 

 
6.3 Business Rates. 

 
6.3.1 There are 2709 live accounts registered on Compass Point systems. 

  
6.3.2 The payment method for these accounts are: 
 

 1079 (39.83%) who make payment via direct debit. 

 1630 (60.17%) who make payment via cash, cheque or online. 
 

6.3.3 The bills are generated electronically by Compass Point, but sent to an 3rd 
party organisation for printing and posting, the cost of this is £894. 

 
6.4 Viewing Council Tax Bills Online. 
 
6.4.1 Members of the task group found they could: 

 

 Register an online account via the ecitizen.sholland.gov.uk service. 

 Request their council tax account be included within their online account 
(provided they could answer additional qualification questions). 

 Register for e-billing (provided the above step had been completed). 
  
6.4.2 Members of the Task Group found they could not register their Council Tax 

account if they didn’t qualify to be asked the additional security questions. 
 
 

Page 68



Page 3 
 

6.5 South Holland Centre. 
 
6.5.1 On target to save 10% from each of 16/17 and 17/18 budgets. 

 
6.5.2 Residents are encouraged to sign up to electronic mailing, but there is no 

option to remove them from the print list. 
 

6.5.3 Digital marketing accounts are currently circa 50% of the total marketing 
database.  Approximately 2500 on separate digital marketing list, potential 
duplication with email addresses held for other purposes. 

 
6.5.4 Administration of room hire now done via email as bookers are using the 

“application to hire” and “Ticket Agency” forms from the website. 
 
6.5.5 Online booking of tickets costs £1.50 per order (which covers cost of booking 

system and postage at 1st class). 
 

6.5.6 Unique monthly website hits increasing from average of 6765 (Oct to Dec 
2015) to 8010 (Oct to Dec 2016). 
 

6.5.7 Average monthly e-newsletters sent to customers 2269 times (Jul to Dec 
2016), with an average open rate of 41% for the same period.  Note the 
industry average open rate for e-marketing is 23%. 
 

6.5.8 Online ticket sales steadily increasing from 12% in 2014/2015 to 17% in 
2016/2017, with value of income from online sales increasing from 14% to 
22% for the same period. 

 
6.5.9 What’s On Live Guide – Produced 3 times a year. 

 

 Total production down from 11000 in Spring 2013 to 7500 in Spring 2017. 

 Issued by post to 6205 residents in Spring 2013 to 3893 in Spring 2017. 
 
6.5.10 Film Guide – Produced 4 times a year. 

 

 Total production down from 9000 in April 2013 to 6700 in February 2017. 

 Issued by post to 5295 in April 2013 down to 3893 in January 2017. 

 Cost of production largely covered by sponsorship from Broadgate 
Builders. 

 
6.5.11 Correspondence Sent to Previous Customers (not booked in 2 years) asking if 

they wish to remain on mailing list: 
 

Year No Letters Sent No Responses Customers 
Removed 

2013 1149 0 1149 

2014 1113 18 1095 

2015 1125 213 912 

2016 1404 281 1123 

 

Page 69



Page 4 
 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations. 
 
7.1 Conclusions Reached: 
 
7.1.1 Council Tax / Business Rates: 
 

 The current e-citizen service is clunky: 
o The signup process only works for users who are directed down the 

additional security question route. 
o The user ID field can contain capital letters, which can lead to 

issues during the logon and password reset processes. 
o If you attempt to reset a password for a user who does not exist, the 

system still attempts to validate account by asking security 
questions. 

o Where multiple adults are liable for Council Tax (i.e. named on the 
bill) the e-billing process does not cope 

 That significant savings could be made in the production of paper bills. 
 
7.1.2 South Holland Centre: 

 

 The return rate on of customers indicating they wish to remain on mailing 
list is low (11%). 

 The current online booking facility has limited functionality in terms of 
account management, and does not work properly on Apple products (e.g. 
seat map does not display on iPad or iPhone). 

 
7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations: 
 
7.2.1 Non-cash: 
 

 That South Holland District Council actively pursues an online/paperless 
approach for council tax and business rate bills. 
 

7.2.2 Cash: 
 

 Further investigation is required on how the eCitizen service can be 
configured to provide a more positive user experience. 

 Further integration is required between the My Council and eCitizen 
service to provide a single customer logon. 

 That the South Holland Centre investigate implementing an up to date 
online booking system that offers better reporting/customer management 
and works across all types of web browser or device. 

 
8. Financial Implications of Recommendations. 
 
8.1 Cost: 
 

 At the time of compiling this report the costs for improving the current 
eCitizen service or new South Holland Centre online booking system were 
not known. 

Page 70



Page 5 
 

 
 
8.2 Potential Savings Per Year: 
 
8.2.1 Council Tax / Business Rates. 
 

Item 25% 50% 75% 

Reduction in C/TAX bill printing 
and distribution cost for those 
Direct Debit customers signing 
up for e-billing. 

£3250 £6500 £9750 

Reduction in B/RATES bill 
printing and distribution cost for 
those Direct Debit businesses 
signing up for e-billing. 

£87 £174 £261 

 
Note: The savings shown are the percentage of the total cost of bill printing and 
distribution, apportioned to those who pay by direct debit: 
 

 Council Tax: 65% of residents pay by DD, this relates to £13000 of the 
total production cost of £20000. 

 Business Rates: 39% of businesses pay by DD, this relates to £348 of the 
total production cost of £894. 

 
8.2.2 South Holland Centre. 
 

 Across the period 2013 to 2016, an average of 1197 letters were posted to 
residents, this translates into estimated savings of: 

o Consumables and Paper (£0.009 per letter): £11. 
o 2nd Class postage (£0.37 per item): £443. 

 
9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review. 
 
9.1 The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 

paragraph 5. 
 
10. Abbreviations. 

 
 

Abbreviation Description 

CPBS Compass Point Business Services 

C/TAX Council Tax 

B/RATES Business Rates 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review of  
 
 
 
 

Printing of Officer Agenda Packs 
 
 
 
 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13th February 2017 
  

Page 73



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

Page 74



 

 

Contents  
 
 

1. Introduction 

2. Scope of the Review 

3. Membership of Task Group 

4. Background to Review 

5. Method of Review 

6. Summary of Findings 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations 

8. Financial implications of recommendations 

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review 

10. Abbreviations 

 

Appendices 

A1. Summary of Agendas Produced – October 2015 to September 2016. 

A2. Summary of Agenda Distribution. 

A3.  Officers Survey Comments. 

  

Page 75



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 
 

Page 76



 

Page 1 
 

1. Introduction. 
 
1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 

commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient. 

 
1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing internal 

meeting agendas to Members and Officers.  This breaks down into: 
 

 Paper cost. 

 Consumables cost, including rental of devices and per page copy charge. 

 Executive Assistants time, to print, collate and distribute agendas. 
 
2. Scope of the Review. 
 
2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as: 

 

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee 
agendas. 

 To formulate a member policy. 

 To make recommendations for an officer policy. 
 

The Task Group also looked at Committee Agendas/external printed material, but 
these are considered in separate reports. 

 
3. Membership of Task Group. 
 
3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 

and A Woolf.  
 
3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 

Councillor M Pullen. 
 
 

3.3 The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was supported by 
Democratic Services.  The Task Group would like to thank all Executive 
Assistants for the initial work in collating details of agendas produced. 

 
 

4. Background to Review. 
 
4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 

(Transformation) Programme requesting a review of the way Officers/Members 
receive internal meeting agenda packs, with a view to making potential savings. 

 
5. Method of Review. 
 
5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 9th February 

to consider the printing of agenda packs. 
 

Page 77



 

Page 2 
 

5.2 Information was sourced from agendas printed between October 2015 and 
September 2016 for the following meetings: 

 
 

 EMT 

 Place Portfolio Briefing 

 Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing 

 Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing 

 Performance Board 

 Welland Homes Board 

 Transformation Board 

 Finance Board 

 Strategy and Governance Team Meeting 

 Place Team Meeting 

 Commercialisation Team Meeting 
 

Note: At the time of writing this report, we did not have a full set of source data 
for those meetings shown above shown in Bold Text and Underlined. 

 
5.3 For each agenda pack produced, the following was collated: 
 

 The number of pages printed per agenda for the specified period. 

 The distribution for each agenda. 
 
5.4 Compass Point Business Services provided: 
 

 The average cost of rental of MFDs along with the cost per printing each 
page. 

 
5.5 Officers to be surveyed across several questions associated with their use of 

mod.gov and how they receive agendas.  
 
6. Summary of Findings. 
 
6.1 Printing and Postage. 
 
6.1.1 The task group identified that across the period of October 2015 and 

September 2016 for the 11 meetings, there were: 
 

 72 individual meetings. 

 832 agendas printed. 
 

6.1.2 The figures above translate to the following A4 paper usage: 
 

 16884 sheets (printed as duplex so using both sides). 

 33.7 reams. 

 6.75 boxes. 
 
6.1.3 The estimated total cost of consumables (e.g. paper and printing costs) was 

£223. 

Page 78



 

Page 3 
 

 
Note the total for printing and postage excludes quarterly rentals of £25 for the 
MFDs in use. 

 
6.1.4 The estimated officer time and cost is 55 hours or £711 (this is calculated 

using an on cost of £30k per annum, with the provision that an officer can 
print and collate 15 agendas per hour). 

 
6.2 Survey Results. 
 
6.2.1 Across the period the survey was live for officers to complete, 17 out of 24 

provided responses. 
 

6.2.2 Not all questions asked were directly related to printing of internal meeting 
agendas, therefore a summary of the responses is shown below.   
 

6.2.3 Question 6 – What device do you use to? 
 

 
 
6.2.4 Question 6 - For internal non-committee meetings (e.g. EMT, Strategy & 

Governance etc) please select the option that best describes you? 
 

 
 
6.2.5 Question 7 - What prevents you viewing internal meeting agendas 
electronically? (multiple answers allowed)? 
 

 
 
  

Re sponse  

Pe rcent

Re sponse  

Count

57.1% 8

21.4% 3

21.4% 3

14

3skipped  questio n

Surface Pro

a nswered  q uestion

Laptop

I Pad

Answer Op tions

Re sponse  

Pe rcent

Re sponse  

Count

46.7% 7

46.7% 7

6.7% 1

15

2skipped  questio n

View some of the agendas electronically and print 

a nswered  q uestion

Only view electronic copies of agendas

Have printed copies of all agendas

Answer Op tions

Re sponse  

Pe rcent

Re sponse  

Count

62.5% 5

50.0% 4

75.0% 6

8

9skipped  questio n

Agenda not projected to screen during meeting

a nswered  q uestion

Limitations of personal ICT kit

Easier to view paper copy

Answer Op tions

Page 79



 

Page 4 
 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations. 
 
7.1 Conclusions Reached: 
 

 That a significant amount of officer time is spent printing/collating agendas 
for internal meetings.  Any reduction in officer time spent on this task 
would increase the amount of time available supporting officers. 

 That the figures in section 6 are much lower than they should be, as some 
data on individual agendas was not available at the time the report was 
compiled. 

 That savings could be made on printing costs by asking officers to opt-in 
(rather than opt-out) of printing. 

 That electronic devices should be used more effectively to view agendas. 

 As the council makes more of its services available online and encourages 
residents to use these more efficient services, offices should be leading by 
example and creating a paperless environment. 

 There is clearly a willingness from most officers to ‘go paperless’ however 
there is still a strong culture to print most documents 

 Meeting room configuration, ICT equipment and insufficient training are 
considered barriers to ‘going paperless’  

 A prompt move to paperless or paper light may be required by the Priory 
Road project 

 
7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations. 

 
7.2.1 Non-cash: 
 

 That Portfolio Holders and Senior Managers encourage ALL areas under 
their control to move to a paperless agenda. 

 
7.2.2 Cash: 
 

 That internal meeting rooms should have fixed projectors or display 
equipment installed, and that use of these becomes commonplace within 
ALL meetings. 

 That a selection of internal meeting rooms have video conferencing 
equipment capable of connecting to external locations, or individuals using 
video/audio capability of their own devices. 

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices. 

 From 1st May 2017: 
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas. 

 
  

Page 80



 

Page 5 
 

8. Financial Implications of Recommendations. 
 
8.1 Cost: 
 

Notes Cost 

Display Equipment for Internal 
Meeting Rooms 

Costs should be built into the Priory Road 
refurbishment project. 

VC Equipment for Some 
Internal Meeting Rooms 

Costs should be built into the Priory Road 
refurbishment and ICT Refresh projects. 

Deploy collaboration software 
to Officer and Member devices 

Costs should be built into the ICT Refresh 
project. 

 
8.2 Potential Savings Per Year: 
 

Item Consumables Officer Time (hours) 

Recipients opt-in to receiving 
agendas printed (25% to 75%) 

£56 to £167 14 to 41 

 
Notes:  
 

 The savings shown are calculated from the actual printing costs shown in 
section 6 of this report. 

 
9 Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review. 
 
9.2 The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 

paragraph 5. 
 
10 Abbreviations. 
 

Abbreviation Description 

MFD Multi-Function Device (e.g. 
Photocopier) 

CPBS Compass Point Business Services 

 
 
 

Page 81



 

Page 6 
 

Appendices. 
 
Note: YELLOW HIGHLIGHTS show where either no or partial data was received at the time of compiling this report. 
 
A1. Summary of agendas produced – October 2015 to September 2016: 
 

 
  

Total Agendas 

Printed

Total 

Consumables 

Cost for Year 

(per Committee)

Estimated 

Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 

Officer Cost per 

Year

EMT 11 1947 121 £141.35 8.07 £103.42 £252.84

Place Portfolio Briefing 8 134 64 £7.08 4.27 £54.70 £66.04

Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing 8 131 80 £8.65 5.33 £68.38 £82.36

Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing 1 11 11 £0.80 0.73 £9.40 £10.93

Performance Board 7 113 91 £9.70 6.07 £77.78 £93.54

Welland Homes Board 10 214 140 £19.77 9.33 £119.66 £148.77

Transformation Board 7 556 42 £22.02 2.80 £35.90 £60.72

Finance Board 1 12 9 £0.71 0.60 £7.69 £9.01

Strategy and Governance Team Meeting 12 44 204 £4.94 13.60 £174.36 £192.90

Place Team Meeting 7 119 70 £7.85 4.67 £59.83 £72.35

Commercialisation Team Meeting 0 0 0 £0.00 0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Totals 72 3281 832 £222.86 55.47 £711.11 £989.44

Committee
Total Pages per 

Meeting

Total Internal

Meetings

Summary Internal Meetings

Total Cost

P
age 82



 

Page 7 
 

A2 Summary of agenda distribution: 
 

 
 
  

Committee Officers Members Other Total

EMT 11 0 0 11

Place Portfolio Briefing 3 5 0 8

Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing 6 4 0 10

Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing 7 4 0 11

Performance Board 13 0 0 13

Welland Homes Board 6 8 0 14

Transformation Board 6 0 0 6

Finance Board 9 0 0 9

Strategy and Governance Team Meeting 17 0 0 17

Place Team Meeting 10 0 0 10

Commercialisation Team Meeting 0 0 0 0

88 21 0 109

P
age 83



 

Page 8 
 

A3 Officer Survey Comments. 
 

I tend to use Mod.Gov to submit reports rather then to view them routinely. I normally only print for internal 
meetings where I need to make notes as it's sometimes hard to keep up trying to make notes on the laptop, 
although I'm getting better at this. 
 

Need to understand how you would view large excel documents etc. 
 

My view is that, so long as the kit works properly and agenda papers are also projected, we should go all 
electronic. I have indicate that we should not send agendas second class and should not stop printing spares. this 
is because, if some members really cannot get on with electronic versions, then we should not disadvantage them 
by slowing down the delivery - and we should have a very small number of spare hard copies - say 3. 
 

If we are to encourage residents (and members) to move to digital means we need to be leading by example. The 
money saved by the reduction in paper and postage should be reinvested in better AV equipment to allow all 
meetings to be paperless. 
 

Officers other than EMT members who have I-pads are not provided the tools to access committee reports 
electronically. Democratic services need to significantly improve the training they provide on mod.gov. 
 

I no longer print agendas or papers for meetings. I take my laptop to all meetings and use MS OneNote to record 
all my notes. I find this to be extremely useful and haven't used a paper notebook for meetings since. 
 

Frequent drop-outs and intermittent Wi-Fi access within the building and also in external venue is only mitigated 
through taking paper copy. Until this is improved it is very difficult to ditch the paper! Reliability of surface pro and 
small screen size do not help when staring down at such a device for a long period during a meeting. 
 

Inability to make own notes on electronic agenda papers is severely limiting. An appropriate device would be 
hugely beneficial. 
 

People's individual needs from an equalities perspective should be considered rather than a blanket ban. 
 

P
age 84



 

Page 9 
 

 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Policy Development Panel – 28 February 2017

(Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer)

Subject: Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel

Recommendation:

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 87

Agenda Item 11.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with 
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitutional and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity or human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality 
and diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

Page 88



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 
implications will be assessed.

5.9  Reputation

5.9.1 There are no direct reputational implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, any reputational implications for the 
Authority will be assessed.

5.10   Risk Management 

5.10.1    There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As 
   individual items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management        
   implications will be assessed. 

5.11   Safeguarding

5.11.1   There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual       
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed. 

5.12   Staffing

5.12.1   There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.13  Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1  There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 There are no direct Transformation Programme implications associated with this report.  
However, the Policy Development Panel and the Performance Monitoring Panel are 
meeting at regular intervals to consider the progress of the Programme, and elements of 
future Task Groups will have links to areas being addressed by the Programme.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel’s Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering ‘Importance’, ‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’.  The 
‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’ score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect 
a ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be 
included in the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Page 89



Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2016/17

Page 90



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
28 February 2017  Update on current situation around long-term empty 

homes (previous updates 22/7/15, 13/1/16 and 5/7/16)
 Final Report of the Reduction of Paper and Postage Task 

Group
 Policy Register – Provide details of completion dates for 

all current policy reviews, Panel to consider whether 
colour coding is the most effective way of representing 
progress – Greg Pearson

9 May 2017  Update regarding the development of apprenticeships and 
the Authority’s role in this – to include information on the 
apprenticeship levy published by the Government - (Phil 
Adams) – last update received 20 December 2016

25 July 2017  Policy Register – update providing details of progress with 
policy reviews (quarterly update) – Greg Pearson

3 October 2017 
7 December 2017  Policy Register – update providing details of progress with 

policy reviews (quarterly update) – Greg Pearson
20 February 2018 
24 April 2018  Policy Register – update providing details of progress with 

policy reviews (quarterly update) – Greg Pearson

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy – Consultation with the Panel on the Strategy 
during a period of county-wide consultation (Matthew Hogan) – To be advised of new 
timetable.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2016/2017

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Paper and postage 
costs throughout the 
Authority Task Group

 To review the use of printed material 
and postage throughout the authority 
for members, officers and residents;

 To formulate a policy on the usage of 
paper and postage, for members;

 To make recommendations for 
proposals of a policy for paper and 
postage usage for officers and 
residents

5 July 2016 27 
September 
2016

J Astill (Chairman)
H Drury
M J Pullen
A Woolf

28 February 2017

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first meeting
To look at the Council’s current policies 
on Public Open Spaces and what could 
be developed to help in the future.
In addition, following the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s review of implemented 
planning decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from this review 
to be addressed through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J Tyrrell
B Alcock (PMP)
A M Newton (PMP)

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision 
the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 

P
age 93



2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.

Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 94



Document is Restricted

Page 95

Agenda Item 14.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.a) Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register - Update Schedule for Policies
	SHDC Policy Register - Appendix A

	9. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes
	Appendix A Empty Homes 16022017

	10. Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group
	PDP Task Group Report - Committee Agenda Printing v2  01
	PDP Task Group Report - External Printing v1 0
	PDP Task Group Report - Officer Agenda Printing v1 0

	11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	14. Exempt minutes of the joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 25 October 2016

